FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington  
9/29/2022 8:51 AM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
10/5/2022  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

101342-6

**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR  
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

Court of Appeals No. 55585-9-II

---

KAISER FOUNDATION HEALTH PLAN, INC.,  
d/b/a KAISER FOUNDATION HEALTH PLAN,  
f/k/a GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE, Respondent

v.

KENNETH MAYLONE, Appellant.

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Paul R. Loudenslager, *Pro Hac Vice*  
Attorney for Kenneth Maylone, as Appellant  
Precision Resolution, LLC  
4134 Seneca Street  
West Seneca, New York 14224  
(716) 712-0417

**

**A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Mr. Kenneth Maylone (hereinafter “Maylone”) asks for review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, as set forth in Part B of this petition.

**B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Division II of the Court of Appeals filed its opinion on August 30, 2022. A copy of that decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-26.

**C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the Court of Appeals broadened the Supreme Court’s mandate regarding the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act and the interpretation of contracts; and has effectively reformed the contract and imposed obligations on the parties that do not exist in the contract.

2. Whether Respondent Kaiser interfered in Appellant Maylone’s contract with his automobile insurance carrier, the Hartford, such that Maylone’s cause of action for tortious interference in contractual relationships should be allowed to proceed at the trial court.

3. Whether Washington state laws relating to uninsured motorist insurance coverage and damages in tort claims are preempted by a federal contract under the Federal Employee Health Benefit Act, at 5 U.S.C.

§ 8902(m), which allows preemption of only state laws which “relate to health insurance or plans.”

**D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Mr. Kenneth Maylone (hereinafter “Maylone”) is a former federal employee with health insurance coverage that was provided by Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc. (hereinafter “Kaiser”) under the Federal Employee Health Benefit (“FEHB”) Program. When Maylone was severely and catastrophically injured in a car wreck caused by a phantom driver, he made a claim with his own automobile insurance carrier, the Hartford, for uninsured/underinsured motorist (“UIM”) benefits. Kaiser seeks reimbursement from Maylone for medical expenses paid as a result of his car wreck in the amount of \$100,000, the limit of Maylone’s UIM policy with the Hartford. Such reimbursement would compensate Kaiser for expenses that it is required to pay under the policy, leaving Maylone, the severely injured individual, with zero compensation for his extensive damages, including his pain and suffering, lost wages, as well as his spouse’s loss of consortium claims.

In the trial court, Kaiser sought summary judgment on its claim for reimbursement, seeking a declaration (under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act of the State of Washington) that it was entitled to reimbursement under the terms of its contract in the amount of \$100,000.

The terms of the insurance policy with Kaiser stated the following with respect to reimbursement and/or subrogation, and reads, in its entirety:

Our right to pursue and receive subrogation and reimbursement recoveries is a condition of, and a limitation on, the nature of benefits or benefit payments and on the provision of benefits under our coverage.

If you have received benefits or benefit payments as a result of an injury or illness and you or your representatives, heirs, administrators, successors, or assignees receive payment from any party that may be liable, a third party's insurance policies, your own insurance policies, or a worker's compensation program or policy, you must reimburse us out of that payment. Our right of reimbursement extends to any payment received by settlement, judgment, or otherwise.

We are entitled to reimbursement to the extent of the benefits we have paid or provided in connection with your injury or illness. However, we will cover the cost of treatment that exceeds the amount of the payment you received.

Reimbursement to us out of the payment shall take first priority (before any of the rights of any other parties are honored) and is not impacted by how the judgment, settlement, or other recovery is characterized, designated, or apportioned. Our right of reimbursement is not subject to reduction based on attorney fees or costs under the "common fund" doctrine and is fully enforceable regardless of whether you are "made whole" or fully compensated for the full amount of damages claimed.

We may, at our option, choose to exercise our right of subrogation and pursue a recovery from any liable party as successor to your rights.

If you do pursue a claim or case related to your injury or illness, you must promptly notify us and cooperate with our reimbursement or subrogation efforts.

CP 24, Appendix at A-3.

Maylone made a counterclaim against Kaiser for tortious interference in his contract with his UIM carrier, the Hartford. He also sought summary judgment on his counterclaim, and a declaration that Kaiser was not entitled to reimbursement.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Kaiser on its claim for reimbursement, and granted summary judgment dismissal of Maylone's counterclaim for tortious interference in a contractual relationship.

Maylone appealed to Division II of the Court of Appeals, arguing that under the terms of Maylone's health benefit plan with Kaiser, it was only entitled to reimbursement if Maylone received settlement proceeds from the UIM policy, such receipt of proceeds has not occurred, and that therefore Kaiser has no reimbursement claim.

It has been Maylone's position at the outset that there is no reimbursement claim that has accrued in favor of Kaiser, because the terms of Kaiser's Medical Coverage Agreement with Maylone provide that he must receive settlement proceeds from his UIM carrier, which would then trigger any claimed right of reimbursement. The record shows, and both the trial court and the Court of Appeals have found, that Maylone has not



received any settlement proceeds from the Hartford. The condition precedent to any alleged right of reimbursement has not been met, and therefore, Kaiser has no right of reimbursement.

Second, it is Maylone's position that Kaiser has wrongfully interfered in his contract with the Hartford, causing him damage. Kaiser has had improper communications with the Hartford, and has repeatedly referred to its right as a "lien" which does not exist under the contract terms. However, Kaiser has, from the outset, continually misrepresented its rights under the terms of the contract to the Hartford. Because of this, the Hartford tendered a settlement check that was payable to both Maylone and to Kaiser. Such tender was in violation of the Hartford's contracts with Maylone.

Finally, it is Maylone's position that the FEHB statute does not preempt the laws of the State of Washington which do not relate to health insurance or plans. The FEHB statute at 5 U.S.C. § 8902(m)(1) reads:

The terms of any contract under this chapter which relate to the nature, provision, or extent of coverage or benefits (including payments with respect to benefits) *shall supersede and preempt any State or local law, or any regulation issued thereunder, **which relates to health insurance or plans.***

5 U.S.C. § 8902(m)(1) (emphasis added).

The issue here, is that there are several laws of the State of Washington which do not relate to health insurance or plans (e.g., the UIM laws of the State of Washington and laws relating to damages in tort claims)

which would completely lose their force and effect, which would not have been the intent of Congress in enacting the FEHBA.

The Court of Appeals decided those three issues as follows. First, the Court found that Maylone did not receive the settlement proceeds at issue. However, it remanded the case to the trial court for a determination of whether Maylone effectuated a valid rescission of his contracts with the Hartford. Second, the Court upheld the trial courts granting of summary judgment dismissal of Maylone's claim for tortious interference in contract. And third, the Court of Appeals held that the FEHB preempts state law that would otherwise mitigate Kaiser's claim. Maylone now petitions this Court for review.

**E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals have found that there has been no receipt of settlement proceeds by Maylone. Therefore, the condition precedent to Kaiser's "reimbursement right" was never be triggered, and Kaiser's declaratory judgment action must now be dismissed. This result is the only one mandated by public policy in the form of Congress's directive, and the federal regulation, and the terms of the Medical Coverage Agreement. The courts of this state cannot twist the UDJA to allow for additional terms and conditions to be added to a contract.

Neither should the courts be permitted to expand the legislative

intent and corresponding statutory restriction to judicially broaden the reach of federal preemption to laws that do not regulate “health insurance.” Moreover, judicial restraint is required when addressing amorphous concepts attempting to override clear and unambiguous public policy set forth both in federal and Washington statutes.

Finally, it is undisputed that Kaiser repeatedly directed payment for benefits under Mr. Maylone’s UIM policy toward itself, and it succeeded in preventing negotiable payment of the claim to Maylone. This is irrefutable evidence of wrongful interference on contract, and Maylone’s lawsuit should be reinstated and allowed to proceed.

1. **The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts With Washington Supreme Court Precedent On Contract Construction and Interpretation**

Maylone has not received settlement proceeds from his UIM carrier the Hartford in this case. The Medical Coverage Agreement mandates that receipt of proceeds from a liable third party’s carrier or the insured’s own carrier is a condition precedent to any right of reimbursement. “If you . . . *receive payment* from any party that may be liable, a third party’s insurance policies, your own insurance policies, or a workers’ compensation program or policy, *you must reimburse us* out of that payment.” CP 24, Appendix A-3.

The federal regulations confirm that receipt is the prerequisite to the right of reimbursement, with the federal agency stating: “OPM does not agree that the right of reimbursement is sufficiently broad to require an individual to reimburse the carrier in a circumstance where the individual has not actually received a recovery, and rejects this change.” Federal Employees Health Benefits Program; Subrogation and Reimbursement Recovery, 80 Fed. Reg. 29203, 29203 (May 21, 2015).

Moreover, the trial court found that Maylone did not receive any settlement proceeds, stating on the record: “I do agree with [Maylone]’s counsel. I’ll put *to be received* from The Hartford Insurance Company, on paragraph 1(a).” RP 47 (emphasis added). The Order itself states: “Kaiser has a right to be reimbursed from the UIM Settlement funds Defendant Maylone *to be received* from The Hartford.” CP 321 (emphasis added).

Finally, the Court of Appeals agreed that Maylone did not receive any proceeds, making a specific finding that: “the Hartford sent Maylone a check for \$100,000, as provided for in the settlement agreement. However, the check was made out to both Kaiser and Maylone. As a result, Maylone could not deposit or cash the check without Kaiser’s assent. Accordingly, receipt of the Hartford check did not constitute receipt of the settlement proceeds *by Maylone.*” Appendix A-24.

This should have been the end of the inquiry. Under the express terms of the health plan contract, there is no right of reimbursement if there is no receipt of proceeds.

However, the Court of Appeals went further and injected an issue that is irrelevant to the determination of whether Kaiser is entitled to reimbursement. The Court of Appeals found that the issue of whether Maylone effectively rescinded his agreements with the Hartford is a “critical issue.” *See* Appendix at A-24. But no such issue is relevant to the determination of the right of reimbursement as stated within the four corners of the Medical Coverage Agreement. Specifically, the Court of Appeals held:

On this critical question of whether the settlement agreement was rescinded, we determine there is an issue of material fact. Effective rescission requires a factual evaluation of the Hartford and Maylone’s conduct, including resolving questions like whether there was a material breach, whether there was acquiescence, or whether parties acted with reasonable promptness. On remand, the superior court shall conduct proceedings to determine whether or not the Hartford settlement was in fact rescinded by Maylone. The UDJA provides both the broad authority and flexibility to resolve these issues on remand.

...

However, we hold that Maylone never received the settlement proceeds and there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the settlement agreement was effectively rescinded. For this reason, we reverse the superior court’s summary judgment order and remand for a determination as to whether

the settlement agreement was rescinded and, following resolution that question, further proceedings in accordance with this opinion.

*See* Appendix A-24 to A-25.

The Court of Appeals went too far in construing the terms of the health plan contract. Kaiser requested a declaration under the Washington Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (RCW § 7.24.030) that it was entitled to reimbursement under the terms of the Medical Coverage Agreement.

Indeed, a court may construe a contract as part of a declaratory judgment action under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act. *See* RCW § 7.24.030 (“A contract may be construed either before or after there has been a breach thereof.”).

However, *courts may not supplement contracts. See Schoenwald v. Diamond K Packing Co.*, 192 Wash. 409, 73 P.2d 748 (Wash.1937):

The courts in construing the contract, must interpret them according to the intent of the parties. *Ames v. Baker*, 68 Wn.2d 713, 415 P.2d 74 (Wash. 1966). However, the court cannot rule out of the contract language which the parties thereto have put into it, nor can the court revise the contract under the theory of construing it, **nor can the court create a contract for the parties which they did not make themselves, nor can the court impose obligations which never before existed.** *Evans v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.*, 26 Wn.2d 594, 174 P.2d 961 (Wash. 1946). The terms of the policy must be understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense. *Thompson v. Ezzell*, 61 Wn.2d 685, 379 P.2d 983 (Wash. 1963). **Clear and unambiguous language is not to be modified under the guise of construing the policy.** *West American Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.*

*Co.*, 80 Wn.2d 38, 491 P.2d 641 (Wash. 1971). *Farmers Ins. Co. v. Miller*, 87 Wn.2d 70, 73, 549 P.2d 9, 11 (Wash.1976).

*Schoenwald*, 192 Wash. at 420 (emphasis added).

The same principles of contract construction and interpretation apply regardless of the supposed broad application of the UDJA, as the Supreme Court of the State of Washington has consistently held for decades, i.e., that you cannot add contract terms or impose obligations on the parties that do not exist within the four corners of the agreement, provided that the language is clear and unambiguous: “Adding terms to the contract would amount to writing a new contract. The court is not permitted to do this, however broadly it may construe and apply the declaratory judgment act.” *In re Marriage of Mudgett*, 41 Wn. App. 337, 341, 704 P.2d 169, 173 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 1, 1985), *citing Schoenwald*, 192 Wash. at 420 (“Any other construction of the contract must inevitably lead to the result reached by the trial court: the writing of a new contract. However broadly we may construe and apply the declaratory judgment act, this the court is not permitted to do. In proper cases, the court has always had the power to reform contracts, but never the power to make them. In this respect, at least, the declaratory judgment act has not broadened the powers of the court. Under it, the court may construe but not supplement contracts.”).

So here, even though the relief Kaiser seeks arises under the UDJA, the general principles of contract interpretation and construction consistently promulgated by the Washington Supreme Court for decades guides the interpretation and construction of the contract in this case.

Here, the language of the Medical Coverage Agreement concerning Kaiser's right of reimbursement is clear and unambiguous. It only refers to receipt of money as a triggering event for the right of reimbursement. Whether that receipt is the result of a valid contract is irrelevant. Therefore, the issue of whether Maylone effectuated a valid rescission of his contracts with the Hartford is irrelevant to the determination of whether Kaiser has a right of reimbursement. Such a determination is extracontractual and is not found anywhere within the four corners of the document. Nor is there any evidence to suggest that a valid rescission is or should be considered part of the health plan contract.

Moreover, the question of whether there was a valid rescission effectively imposes an obligation upon Maylone that does not exist in the contract at issue, i.e., the obligation to resolve his dispute with his own auto insurance carrier the Hartford.

The decision of the Court of Appeals here conflicts with several decades of precedent relating to the court's power to construe and interpret contracts. Here, the Court of Appeals has done that which the Supreme



Court has consistently declared it does not have the power to do, reform the contract, and add additional terms and obligations upon the parties that go beyond the clear and unambiguous language contained in the four corners of the agreement.

Since no receipt has occurred here, the determination of whether there was a valid rescission of Maylone's contract is irrelevant. Therefore, this Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals and grant summary judgment dismissal of Kaiser's claim for reimbursement.

**2. The Public Has a Substantial Interest in Preventing Interference in the Negotiation of Their Contracts**

Kaiser has, through unauthorized direct contact with the Hartford, misrepresented the extent of its rights. Its rights include a right of subrogation and a right of reimbursement. Nothing more. The right of subrogation is not an issue in this case, as Kaiser has not asserted any such right. It only seeks a declaration as to a right of reimbursement, which is against the insured in the event the insured receives proceeds from his auto carrier.

The right of reimbursement is as between Kaiser and Maylone. However, any communication by Kaiser with the Hartford asserting a "lien" on UIM settlement proceeds goes outside of the scope of the rights granted in the Medical Coverage Agreement. Kaiser has no such lien rights under

the contract, yet the record reflects clear and consistent communication by Kaiser to the Hartford asserting such a lien. Kaiser has directed the Hartford, upon settlement of the UIM claim with Maylone, to send payment directly to Kaiser and forego Maylone entirely. *See* CP 17, 19, 27, 45.

Any communication regarding a “lien” is in fact a direct misrepresentation of its rights under the contract. The terms are clear: once Maylone receives a payment from his UIM carrier, then a potential right of reimbursement accrues.

Kaiser’s communication with the Hartford led directly to the issuance of an improper tender of settlement proceeds based on its misrepresentations of its rights under the terms of the Medical Coverage Agreement.

The public has a substantial interest in ensuring that entities such as Kaiser do not improperly meddle in the negotiation of separate contracts to which such entities are not a party.

The facts here do not warrant summary judgment dismissal of Maylone’s claim for tortious interference in contract. Kaiser, through its improper communications and misrepresentations, caused the Hartford to breach its contract with Maylone, causing damage to Maylone, e.g., the ability to negotiate his own contract with his own insurance carrier, the Hartford.

Kaiser's repeated demands for payment of benefits under Mr. Maylone's UIM policy to itself succeeded in preventing negotiable payment of the claim to Maylone. Therefore, there is a genuine issue of material fact, and Maylone's lawsuit should be reinstated and allowed to proceed.

3. **The Public Has a Substantial Interest in FEHB Preemption, as It Relates to Preservation of State Law Protections Which Do Not Relate to Health Insurance**

The Federal Employee Health Benefits Act only allows for preemption of state laws which "relate to health insurance or plans." 5 U.S.C. § 8902(m)(1). The Court of Appeals has concluded that the UIM laws of the State of Washington, and also Washington tort law, is preempted by Kaiser's Medical Coverage Agreement. However, that interpretation is overbroad and effectively destroys entire sectors of state law which have no relation to health insurance coverage.

The strong public policy and purpose of the Washington laws relating to uninsured motorist coverage is clearly stated by statute. It is "to protect innocent victims of motorists of underinsured vehicles." RCW § 48.22.030(12). Likewise, it is "intended to provide broad protection against financially irresponsible motorists and is construed broadly to meet this legislative goal." *Gerken v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 74 Wn. App. 220, 225, 872 P.2d 1108 (Wash. Ct. App. 1994).

Washington courts have consistently upheld the public policy and

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