FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/9/2022 4:30 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101342-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 55585-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KAISER FOUNDATION HEALTH PLAN, INC., d/b/a KAISER FOUNDATION HEALTH PLAN, f/k/a GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE,,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

KENNETH MAYLONE,

Defendants/Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

### STAMPER RUBENS, P.S.

By:
Michael H. Church,
WSBA No. 24957
Courtney J. Hagermann,
WSBA No. 51596
720 West Boone, Suite 200
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 326-4800
Attorneys for
Plaintiff/Respondent

##

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

### V. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review

Maylone seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b). To obtain review under RAP 13.4(b), Plaintiffs must persuade this Court that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court or another

division of the Court of Appeals, that it involves a significant unresolved question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved, or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest. *Id.*, *see also*, *In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 1213, 132-33, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

Maylone cannot meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). In fact, Maylone fails even to acknowledge the standard of review at any point in his briefing. He does not identify any specific decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals that allegedly conflict with the Court of Appeals decision. He does not identify any unresolved question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States which is involved in this case. Finally, he does not identify any broad issue of public interest, instead merely citing his own individual interests in this case and asserting that his interests are automatically related to a public interest in negotiating contracts.. Notably, Maylone wholly

ignores the federal case that does, in fact, apply to the issues raised on appeal: Coventry Health Care of Missouri, Inc. v. Nevils, 581 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1190, 1198-99 (2017). The Coventry decision definitively affirmed that the Federal Employee Health Benefit Act ("FEHBA") preempts all state laws whether case law or statute which would otherwise operate to prevent or limit a FEHBA provider from pursuing subrogation or reimbursement. Id. at 1198. The fact that Maylone is displeased with the application of Coventry and FEHBA to his situation does not make this case appropriate for review in this Court.

## B. The Court of Appeals did not insert new terms into the MCA.

Maylone claims that the Court of Appeals improperly inserted a new contractual term into the MCA, arguing that they should have found that there is no "reimbursement right" and instructed wholesale dismissal of Kaiser's declaratory judgment action. This argument, however, ignores that Kaiser's complaint

specifically asked that the Superior Court to determine Kaiser's "...right to enforce the subrogation/reimbursement in [Maylone's] Plan and recover medical expenses paid on behalf of [Maylone]." CP 2. Despite the fact that Maylone, after being served with the Complaint, for the first time sought to rescind his binding agreement with The Hartford – this section of the MCA still requires interpretation by the courts. Thus, both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals acted appropriately by declining to dismiss Kaiser's declaratory judgment action.

Although Maylone continues to argue that his claim of interference with a contract is "undisputed" — it plainly is not. Kaiser has, at all times, maintained that there is no evidence of wrongful interference with a contract, and that Maylone has failed to prove the necessary elements of his case. The Court of Appeals also recognized that failure, as discussed *infra*. Notably, Maylone actually received a check from The Hartford in the amount his full policy limits — thus ensuring that he received the

benefit of his contract with the Hartford. Maylone chose to send that check back for the sole bad-faith reason that he did not want to be held to the subrogation and reimbursement provisions of his MCA. Maylone cannot establish damages against Kaiser by refusing to comply with not one, but two separate contracts. The fact that he is displeased with the application of FEHBA to his matter does not change that reality.

# C. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with applicable state and federal precedent.

Maylone continues to assert that he did not receive payment of settlement funds from the Hartford based on the fact that he made the unilateral and bad-faith choice to return the Hartford's check <u>after</u> the instant litigation had already commenced. *See* CP 134 (letter to the Hartford dated February 10, 2020); *compare to* CP 1 (Complaint filed December 18, 2019). Maylone continues to argue that he should be permitted benefit from his own bad faith actions, but wholly ignores the fact that his MCA covers both the issues of subrogation <u>and</u>

reimbursement, both of which were pled by Kaiser in this case.

CP 2-3.

Maylone improperly focuses only on language pertaining to reimbursement after receipt of payment, while ignoring that applicable regulations apply in both the context of subrogation and reimbursement. Even to the extent that Maylone asserts that he has rescinded his settlement agreement with the Hartford – which is and has at all times been disputed, and which the Court of Appeals found to be a question of fact – Kaiser's declaratory judgment action would still stand insofar as they would have a right to pursue subrogation and to have the Supreme Court issue a decision to interpret their contractual rights.

In the event that the Superior Court may find that Maylone did <u>not</u> validly rescind the agreement with the Hartford, the Court of Appeals is correct to recognize that the Superior Court has the right to order that <u>upon receipt</u> of funds, Maylone would be

required to make payment in full to Kaiser. A declaratory judgment act, at its core, exists to provide a contract interpretation – it is distinct from a breach of contract or other claim in that it seeks for the court to resolve questions of contract interpretation. RCW 7.24.020. There need not be an actual breach for the Court to make determinations as to each party's contractual rights. RCW 7.24.030. Thus, if the Superior Court found that the settlement agreement with the Hartford were validly rescinded, it would have the right to determine what obligations each party has with respect to subrogation; by contrast, if it finds there was no rescission, then the Court has the right to interpret the contract and state what must be done with the settlement funds upon receipt. These issues are permitted to be resolved before Maylone takes action to breach the MCA. RCW 7.24.030.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kaiser notes that on March 12, 2021, the Superior Court of Washington for Clark County did, in fact, receive tender of funds from the Hartford into the court registry.

# D. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any public policy or any appellate case as to intentional interference with a contract.

Again, Maylone ignores the Complaint in this case when asserting that Kaiser has not asserted a right to subrogation. The Complaint clearly asks the Superior Court to determine each party's rights as pertain to **both** the subrogation and reimbursement terms of the MCA. CP 2-3.

While Maylone focuses almost exclusively on his claim that Kaiser communicated improperly with the Hartford, he ignores entirely the core point of the Court of Appeals decision:

There is no evidence in the record of an improper purpose for Kaiser's action or that it employed improper means; there is no evidence of bad faith. Kaiser paid Maylone's medical bills resulting from Maylone's car accident. Kaiser merely informed Maylone and the Hartford of its right to reimbursement and requested that proceeds from a UIM settlement be made out to Kaiser.

But critically, Maylone has failed to show any damages resulting from Kaiser's alleged interference. Under Maylone's medical coverage agreement with Kaiser, he was required to pay the entire settlement amount to Kaiser upon receipt from the Hartford. The Hartford's decision to make

the proceeds payable to both Maylone and Kaiser did not result in any loss to Maylone because he would not have been permitted to keep the proceeds in any event.

Because Maylone has failed to show intentional interference with an improper objective or the use of a wrongful means and because Maylone cannot show any damages, we determine there was no question of material fact and the superior court did not err in granting summary judgment on Kaiser's behalf in regard to the tortious interference with contract claim.

Kaiser Found. Health Plan, Inc. v. Maylone, No. 55585-9-II, 2022 WL 3754902, at \*11 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 30, 2022).

In order to prove tortious interference with a contractual relationship, Maylone must produce evidence sufficient to prove the following: (1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship; (2) that Kaiser was aware of and intentionally interfered with that relationship; (3) that the contract was breached as a result of Kaiser's actions; (4) that Kaiser had an improper purpose or used improper means, which resulted in the interference with the contractual relationship; and (5) that Maylone suffered actual damage as a result of Kaiser's actions.

Eugster v. City of Spokane, 121 Wn. App. 799, 811, 91 P.3d 117 (2004).

Maylone does not dispute that he failed to show an improper purpose; he does not dispute that he failed to show any actual damages whatsoever as a result of Kaiser's actions. He has failed to provide any evidence that there is a substantial public interest compelling review of this case when Maylone has plainly failed to meet two essential elements of his claim. Accordingly, he cannot meet the standards of RAP 13.4(b).

# E. Preemption pursuant to FEHBA is well established by the United States Supreme Court.

FEHBA authorizes the Office of Personnel Management ("OPM") to enter into contracts with private medical coverage providers to administer benefit plans for federal employees and their dependents. 5 U.S.C. § 8901 *et. seq.* FEHBA also provides that, where a medical coverage agreement is entered pursuant to FEHBA, any provisions therein which "relate to the nature, provision, or extent of coverage or benefits (including payments

with respect to benefits) shall supersede and preempt any state or local law, or any regulation issued thereunder, which relates to health insurance or plans." 5 U.S.C. § 8902(m)(1).

It is undisputed in this matter that the medical coverage agreement at issue was entered pursuant to FEHBA. Initially, after FEHBA was enacted, states "[were] not allowing FEHB Program carriers to collect subrogation and/or reimbursement recoveries due to state law that either prohibit[ed] or limit[ed]" recovery. Letter No. 2012-18, U.S. Office of Personnel Management (June 18, 2012). In an effort to provide further guidance, the OPM issued a letter advising that "the [FEHBA] preempts state laws prohibiting or limiting subrogation and reimbursement. As a result, FEHB Program carriers are entitled to receive these recoveries regardless of state law." Id. (emphasis added). This position was then memorialized at 5 C.F.R. § 890.106(a), which states: "All health benefit plan contracts shall provide that the [FEHB] carrier is entitled to pursue subrogation and reimbursement recoveries...." (emphasis added). Giving due deference to the OPM's reading of FEHBA, the United States Supreme Court has affirmed that federal law preempts state law regarding FEHB carriers' rights to subrogation and reimbursement. *Coventry Health Care of Missouri, Inc. v. Nevils*, 581 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1190, 1198-99 (2017). The *Coventry* opinion concludes that state law – including case law on the common fund and made whole doctrines – must yield to FEHBA contracts' subrogation provisions. *Id.* at 1198.

Maylone argues that FEHBA preemption does not apply to this case, making the strained argument that it does not apply when the insured's recovery comes through an Uninsured Motorist ("UIM") policy. This is not the law. It is true that Washington has a strong public policy in favor of drivers having uninsured motorist coverage. His briefing isolates statutes that on their face detail the steps auto insurers must follow when

establishing a new policy or renewing an auto insurance policy. See RCW 48.22.030. Nothing in the UIM statute, however, even begins to suggest that it limits medical insurers from seeking reimbursement through a UIM recovery. On its face, it is simply a procedural requirement that auto insurers must adhere to.

These procedural requirements, do not and cannot override the right of a FEHBA provider to enforce its reimbursement and subrogation rights. There is, in fact, nothing in the UIM statute that in any way prohibits subrogation and reimbursement of medical expenses pursuant to an MCA. Even to the extent that Maylone attempts to interpret RCW 48.22.030 to prevent reimbursement through a UIM policy, he is in fact conceding that they relate to health insurance or plans, because he seeks to have this statute prevent subrogation and reimbursement under FEHBA. The *Coventry* court has made it explicitly clear that this is not permitted, stating: "We hold...that contractual subrogation and reimbursement prescriptions plainly

'relate to ... payments with respect to benefits,' § 8902(m)(1); therefore, by statutory instruction, they override state law barring subrogation and reimbursement." *Coventry*, 137 S. Ct. at 1194. In other words: to the extent that Washington state law would otherwise prevent subrogation and reimbursement as to recovery under a UIM policy, the Medical Coverage Agreement preempts that law and *permits* subrogation and reimbursement.

Maylone's briefing wholly lacks any reference to case law to support his public policy claims that obtaining settlement proceeds through UIM coverage defeats FEHBA preemption. That is because no such case law exists. Maylone attempts to argue that the Court of Appeals has found that Maylone's settlement recovery is 100% medical expenses — this, too, is false. The Court of Appeals correctly stated: "Maylone's agreement with Kaiser explicitly states that Kaiser has a right to reimbursement that extends to all settlement proceeds and 'is not impacted by how the ... settlement, or other recovery is

characterized, designated, or apportioned.' CP at 24. Therefore, it does not matter whether the Hartford characterized its \$100,000 settlement offer as a payment for medical expenses or for noneconomic damages." Kaiser Found. Health Plan, Inc. v. Maylone, No. 55585-9-II, 2022 WL 3754902, at \*9 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 30, 2022). In other words, the Court of Appeals' actual finding was that under the MCA at issue, it is wholly irrelevant how the Hartford, or Maylone, or his (unnamed and unknown) spouse categorizes a settlement payment: Kaiser has a regardless subjective right reimbursement of the characterization. To find otherwise would be to allow an insured to nullify FEHBA preemption by entering settlement agreements that state proceeds are only for damages other than medical expenses. FEHBA, and Kaiser's MCA, do not permit this, and the Court of Appeals correctly did so.

Despite Maylone's continued insistence that there are no laws which "relate to health insurance or plans" at issue in this

case, it is clear through his argument that he is attempting to accomplish precisely what *Coventry* found impermissible: to apply state law in a way that prevents subrogation and/or reimbursement under FEHBA. This is simply not permitted, and it is difficult to imagine more well-settled law than that established by the United States Supreme Court. *See Coventry*, 581 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1190. Maylone cannot ignore this clear, explicit ruling simply because he is displeased with the realities of its application to his particular circumstances.

### VI. CONCLUSION

Maylone has failed to meet his their burden under RAP 13.4(b) in all respects. The Court of Appeals decision follows well settled law and is appropriate. For the reasons set forth above, Kaiser respectfully requests that Plaintiffs' petition for review be denied.